IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

No. 18-0733

STATE OF IOWA,

Appellee/Plaintiff,

v.

FONTAE C. BUELOW,

Appellant/Defendant.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY
HON. MONICA ZRINYI WITTIG

APPELLANT'S BRIEF
AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

THE WEINHARDT LAW FIRM

David N. Fautsch
Elisabeth A. Archer
2600 Grand Avenue, Suite 450
Des Moines, IA 50312
Telephone: (515) 244-3100
Facsimile: (515) 288-0407
E-Mail: dfautsch@weinhardtlaw.com
earcher@weinhardtlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. The district court erred by refusing to admit evidence of Ms. Link's suicidal disposition.

Beachel v. Long, 420 N.W.2d 482 (Iowa Ct. App. 1988)

Blackburn v. State, 23 Ohio State 146 (1872)

Bowie v. State, 49 S.W.2d 1049 (Ark. 1932)

Commonwenslath v. Trefethen, 157 Mass. 180 (1892)

In re Joseph G., 667 P.2d 1176 (Cal. 1983)

Jumpertz v. People, 21 Ill. 375 (1859)

Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Hillmon, 145 U.S. 285 (1892)

People v. Salcido, 54 Cal. Rptr. 820 (1966)

State v. Beesen, 136 N.W. 317 (Iowa 1912)

State v. Davis, 77 P.3d 1111 (Or. 2003)

State v. Drach, 1 P.3d 864 (Kan. 2000)

State v. Duncan, 710 N.W.2d 34 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Guthrie, 627 N.W.2d 401 (S.D. 2001)

State v. Huser, 894 N.W.2d 472 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Ilgenfritz, 173 S.W. 1041 (Mo. 1915)

State v. Jacoby, 260 N.W.2d 828 (Iowa 1977)

State v. Jaeger, 973 P.2d 404 (Utah 1999)

State v. Krogmann, 804 N.W.2d 518 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Meyer, 163 N.W. 244 (Iowa 1917)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Richards, 809 N.W.2d 80 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Stanley, 37 P.3d 85 (N.M. 2001)

State v. Tracy, 482 N.W.2d 675 (Iowa 1992)

II. The district court erred by removing a holdout juror after deliberations commenced.

Clark v. United States, 289 U.S. 1 (1933)

Garcia v. People, 997 P.2d 1 (Colo. 2000)

People v. Allen, 264 P.3d 336 (Cal. 2011)

People v. Lomax, 234 P.3d 377 (Cal. 2010)

People v. Nelson, 922 N.E.2d 1056 (Ill. 2009)

Sanders v. Lamarque, 357 F.3d 943 (9th Cir. 2004)

Sparf v. United States, 156 U.S. 51 (1895)

State v. Escobedo, 573 N.W.2d 271 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997)

State v. Rutledge, 600 N.W.2d 324 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Sanchez, 6 P.3d 486 (N.M. 2000)

State v. Senn, 882 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Sullivan, 949 A.2d 140 (N.H. 2008)

State v. Wisniewski, 171 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 1969)

United Bhd. of Carpenters & Joiners of Am. v. United States, 330 U.S. 395 (1947)

United States v. Abbell, 271 F.3d 1286 (11th Cir. 2001)

United States v. Augustin, 661 F.3d 1105 (11th Cir. 2011)

United States v. Brown, 823 F.2d 591 (D.C. Cir. 1987)

United States v. Kemp, 500 F.3d 257 (3d Cir. 2007)

United States v. Ross, 77 F.3d 1525 (7th Cir. 1996)

United States v. Symington, 195 F.3d 1080 (9th Cir. 1999)

United States v. Thomas, 116 F.3d 606 (2d Cir. 1997)

United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1 (1985)

Williams v. Cavazos, 646 F.3d 626 (9th Cir. 2011)

Williams v. Florida, 399 U.S. 78 (1970)

III. The district court erred by forcing Mr. Buelow to waive either his right to a speedy trial or his objection to the racial cross-section of the jury venire.

Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742 (1970)

Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357 (1979)

Gilbert v. Lockhart, 930 F.2d 1356 (8th Cir. 1991)

Plessy v. Ferguson, 163 U.S. 537 (1896)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017)

Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522 (1975)

IV. This Court erred by requiring Mr. Buelow to remove extensive quotations to Ms. Link's medical records in his initial proof brief.

Coy v. Iowa, 487 U.S. 1012 (1988)

Estes v. Texas, 381 U. S. 532 (1965)

In re Oliver, 333 U.S. 257 (1948)

State v. Canal, 773 N.W.2d 528 (Iowa 2009)

Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39 (1984)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is “a murder case that is dividing Dubuque.”¹ Mr. Fontae Buelow was convicted of Murder in the Second Degree for the death of Ms. Samantha Link. Mr. Buelow says she stabbed herself. The State says Mr. Buelow stabbed her. Ms. Link had a long history of suicide attempts and severe mental illness that the jury was not allowed to know about because the trial judge ruled that Ms. Link’s medical records and other first-hand accounts of her behavior were barred by the hearsay rule and the character evidence rule. Whether evidence of suicidal behavior is evidence of character is a question of first impression in this Court. *See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c) & (f).*

Mr. Buelow is black. Ms. Link is white. Mr. Buelow was convicted by an all-white jury *after* a holdout juror was removed during deliberations. Iowa law does not provide a procedure for removing a juror during deliberations. This case, therefore, presents an issue of broad public importance requiring guidance from this Court. *See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d).*

¹ KCRG-TV9, *Family on both sides of a Dubuque murder case speak about possibility for a new trial*, available at <http://www.kcrg.com/content/news/Family-on-both-sides-of-a-Dubuque-murder-case-speak-about-possibility-for-a-new-trial-478097793.html>, March 27, 2018 (last retrieved August 26, 2018).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed a Trial Information on April 6, 2017, charging Mr. Buelow with two offenses: Murder in the First Degree in violation of Iowa Code § 707.2(1)(a) and Possession of a Controlled Substance, to wit, Cocaine, in violation of Iowa Code § 124.401(5). Mr. Buelow pleaded not guilty to all charges. From the beginning, Mr. Buelow has explained that he is innocent because the decedent, Ms. Samantha Link, stabbed herself.

Judge Monica Ackley (now, and by the time of trial, Judge Monica Zrinyi Wittig) of Dubuque County was assigned to the case. Judge Zrinyi Wittig presided over every aspect of this case up to and including the trial. She held a pretrial conference on January 5, 2018. Trial was set for January 8, 2018. After two continuances, Mr. Buelow's speedy trial deadline was January 9, 2018. 01/05/2018 Tr. 29:5–6. At the pretrial conference, the trial judge made two decisions that are the subject of this appeal.

First, the judge prohibited the introduction of any evidence related to Ms. Link's mental health or suicidal disposition on the grounds that the medical records describing Ms. Link's mental disorders were hearsay and that such evidence is "a character assault." 01/05/2018 Tr. 46:14–15.

Second, the judge told Mr. Buelow and his counsel that "you've got to give me an answer" as to whether or not he was going to waive either his

right to a speedy trial or his objection to the racial cross-section of the jury venire because the speedy trial date was quickly approaching. 01/05/2018 Tr. 28:14–15.

On January 8, 2018, the case proceeded to a jury trial.² At the close of the State’s evidence, Mr. Buelow moved for a judgment of acquittal on all counts, and the judge denied the motion. 01/16/2018 Tr. 139:19–20. After presenting his defense, Mr. Buelow renewed his motion for acquittal. 01/18/2018 Tr. 116:20–24.

After the case was submitted, the judge received a note from the jury room indicating that the jurors could not come to agreement. The judge stated that the jurors were arguing so loudly that she could hear them from outside the jury room. Late in the afternoon another note came from the jury room accusing an unnamed juror of not deliberating. In response, the judge admonished the entire jury (threatening contempt) and sent the jurors home for the weekend. Concerned that a mistrial might happen, the judge later explained on the record that she placed telephone calls to the alternate jurors.

² None of the trial exhibits were entered on EDMS. Trial exhibits were only uploaded after the appeal was filed and upon the motion of appellate counsel. App. v. IV, p. 33–37. The trial judge did not explain why electronic filing requirements were disregarded.

Counsel was not present for the judge's *ex parte* communication with the alternate jurors and the phone calls were not reported.

The juror accused of not deliberating went home and wrote a letter to the judge explaining his commitment to the deliberative process. When court reconvened on January 22, 2018, the letter from the holdout juror was brought to the judge. The judge says that she did not read the letter and, instead, shredded the letter.³ The holdout juror was dismissed without any investigation, an alternate juror joined deliberations, and Mr. Buelow was convicted shortly thereafter of the lesser included charge of Murder in the Second Degree and Possession of Cocaine. 01/22/2018 Tr. 12–20.

On March 8, 2018, Mr. Buelow filed a motion for a new trial and arrest of judgment, renewing the arguments from the previously argued motions for judgment of acquittal and renewing his objections on numerous issues. The judge denied the new trial motion in its entirety on April 4, 2018.

On April 26, 2018, Mr. Buelow was sentenced to a prison term of fifty years. Mr. Buelow filed a notice of appeal on the same day.

³ The letter is only available now because the holdout juror kept a copy. A copy was provided to Mr. Buelow's lawyers and preserved for the record through a motion for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Background.

Mr. Buelow and Ms. Link had a romantic relationship. On March 30, 2017, the couple was together throughout the evening. They were both drinking and using recreational drugs. Ms. Link was drinking especially heavily and using a variety of behavior altering drugs. App. v. I, p. 139. Ms. Link ingested cocaine, benzodiazepine (i.e. muscle relaxant), marijuana, and the antidepressant drugs Xanax and Prozac. *Id.* Her blood alcohol level measured for her autopsy was .221 g/100 mL, which is nearly three times the legal limit for driving. *Id.*

It is unclear exactly when or exactly why, but during the course of the evening Ms. Link's behavior became aggressive and erratic. Mr. Buelow and other witnesses described her actions at a bar called Easy Street. 1/18/2018 Tr. 19:3–7. She occasionally left the bar without Mr. Buelow. 1/18/2018 Tr. 22:25–23:6. When she would come back to the bar she would appear even more intoxicated than before. *Id.* Ms. Link attacked another young woman at the bar, who later testified that Ms. Link accused her of making advances toward Mr. Buelow. 01/16/2018 Tr. 42–46.

Ms. Link's ire eventually turned to Mr. Buelow. They argued about their relationship. She was upset about his prior relationships. 01/18/2018

Tr. 19:20–22:11. He was upset that she was prying. *Id.* When she was away from the bar, he would send her text messages but get no response. 01/18/2018 Tr. 28:17–25; App. v. I, p. 155–56. There is nothing threatening about the text messages but they bear out that the couple was having a spat. There is no testimony or evidence that they had any sort of physical altercation in public. After 2:00 a.m. on March 31, 2017, Mr. Buelow and Ms. Link went back to the house that he rented and where they frequently stayed together.

Taking the stand in his own defense, Mr. Buelow testified about the events leading to Ms. Link’s death. 01/18/2018 Tr. 42–45.⁴ She was still upset about his prior girlfriends. He still wanted her to drop it. They were the only people in the house.

As the argument continues, Mr. Buelow asks her to leave. He tells her that their relationship is over. She attacks him.⁵ She began to punch him in the face while he tried to restrain her by her wrists. She was biting him. His

⁴ The description that follows is from Mr. Buelow’s testimony. Although the appellate posture of this case requires this Court to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, Mr. Buelow’s testimony was the only testimony about what happened in the last few minutes of Ms. Link’s life. Exhibit 12 is a cell phone video taken by Mr. Buelow. The video shows Ms. Link attacking Mr. Buelow. The scene described by Mr. Buelow begins at page 42 of the transcript from January 18, 2018.

⁵ As the tattoo on Ms. Link’s forearm says: “Love is all or nothing.”

face had the marks to prove it. App. v. I, p. 25. While she was biting him, he stuck his finger in her eye.

They become untangled and then she begins to go upstairs. Mr. Buelow says that she stumbled on her way up the stairs. He followed her; nudging her upstairs so that she would leave. But she does not head toward the front door. She goes to the kitchen.

In the kitchen she grabs a knife. At first Mr. Buelow thinks she is going to come after him. He retreats by taking a couple of steps back. She does not attack him. With two hands on the knife she stabs herself.

He runs to her. He checks her pulse but does not feel anything. He runs downstairs to find his cell phone. First he calls his friend but his friend doesn't answer. Immediately after that he calls 911. In the five minutes between the time that he calls 911 and when first responders arrive, he continues to call 911 begging for help. From the moment that first responders arrive to today, Mr. Buelow explains that Ms. Link committed suicide.

Mr. Buelow's recollection of that night is not perfect. He told the police and he testified at trial that he only saw her stab herself once in the stomach. In fact there were two penetrating stab wounds and one superficial stab wound on Ms. Link's abdomen and upper torso. App. v. I, p. 133, 153.

The two penetrating stab wounds, which were fatal, were to her chest. App. v. I, p. 133.

There is no forensic evidence—none at all—to show that Mr. Buelow ever touched the knife. Mr. Buelow’s fingerprints are not on the knife. App. v. I, p. 154. He has only a speck of blood on his right hand (although he is left-handed) and on his shirt. At trial, the State’s Medical Examiner admitted that Ms. Link’s wounds could have been self-inflicted. 01/16/2018 Tr. 120. The State’s blood spatter expert, likewise, admitted that the very small amount of blood on Mr. Buelow’s shirt could have been deposited even if he was standing 10 feet from Ms. Link. 01/12/2018 Tr. 211:25–212:4.

At trial, Dr. Bradley Randall, a forensic pathologist that has performed over 2,000 autopsies, testified on Mr. Buelow’s behalf. 01/17/2018 Tr. 13. Dr. Randall’s opinion was that the evidence was more consistent with a suicide than a homicide because lacerations on Ms. Link’s right hand were consistent with the knife slipping in her hand as it penetrated her chest. 01/17/2018 Tr. 37–39; App. v. I, p. 153 (showing lacerations on Ms. Link’s pinky and index finger only).

II. The trial judge excluded all evidence of Ms. Link's mental illnesses and suicidal behavior.

Mr. Buelow consistently sought to introduce evidence of Ms. Link's mental health.⁶ Ms. Link had a long history of suicidal behavior. Mr. Buelow's attorneys sought to introduce this evidence through medical records, through a psychiatrist who would render an expert opinion as to Ms. Link's risk of suicide, and through lay testimony. At each turn, the trial judge refused to admit any evidence of Ms. Link's mental health.

Evidence of Ms. Link's long history of suicidal behavior and significant risk factors for suicide is overwhelming, near in time to her death, and includes information that corroborates Mr. Buelow's account of her death.

The contents of Ms. Link's medical records are not here reproduced, quoted, or paraphrased due to Mr. Buelow's compliance with the Order of this Court dated November 29, 2018. The Court is specifically directed to the Confidential Appendix where the medical records may be found.⁷

⁶ The trial judge went to great lengths to protect Ms. Link's medical records. Any time that the records were discussed, the entire courtroom was cleared. Motions with any reference to her mental health were ordered sealed at security level 9, which does not even permit access to counsel of record.

⁷ Mr. Buelow moved for review of the Order dated November 29, 2018. *See* Motion dated December 7, 2018. Requiring Mr. Buelow to forgo
{02066246.DOCX}

The medical records demonstrate that Ms. Link (a) had attempted suicide on multiple occasions, (b) threatened suicide in a manner consistent with how Mr. Buelow says she actually committed suicide, and (c) had been diagnosed with mental disorders that increased her risk of completing suicide.

Mr. Buelow also sought to have Dr. David Bean, a board certified psychiatrist, testify in his defense. Dr. Bean's opinion was based on his review of Ms. Link's medical records, the autopsy, and Mr. Buelow's description of events. If permitted to testify to his medical opinion, he would have explained that Ms. Link's mental instability, her intoxication at the time of her death, and her feelings of rejection following her argument with Mr. Buelow "could precipitate an increase in her depressive symptomology even to the potential of suicidal activity." App. v. IV, p. 11–20.

Dr. Bean explained during a deposition that "the more symptoms you have the greater the amount of suicidal thoughts that are possible and the amount of suicidal – suicidal behavior." App. v. I, p. 78–101. The trial judge limited the expert testimony on the same grounds that it excluded the medical records. Dr. Bean was only permitted to testify that Ms. Link was

extensive reproduction, quotation, or paraphrasing of Ms. Link's medical records violates Mr. Buelow's Sixth Amendment right to a complete and public defense. *Infra* Section IV.

taking medication typically prescribed for depression and anxiety. 01/17/2018 Tr. 84–92. He was prohibited from discussing Ms. Link’s history of mental health problems, the mental disorder under which she suffered, the circumstances of her previous suicide attempts, and even the fact of her prior suicide attempts.⁸ 01/17/2018 Tr. 84:2–15.

Finally, Mr. Buelow sought to introduce lay witness testimony that corroborated his description of events. Ms. Link’s former boyfriend, Mr. Michael Harkey, testified at a deposition that during an altercation he had with Ms. Link she angrily grabbed a knife. App. v. I, p. 73. Mr. Harkey took the knife from her “[b]ecause, like a said, I mean, I’m not – obviously, I got punched and stuff like that. So, either – I’m not letting – No. 1, I ain’t going to let her kill herself. And, No. 2, I ain’t going to let anything happen to myself as well.” *Id.*; 01/18/2018 Tr. 106–07.

The judge’s initial ruling on all matters related to Ms. Link’s mental health appeared to be based solely on the character evidence rule: “I cannot permit the character assault without the issue of self-defense being raised ... this is not a trial as to the nature of the victim’s alleged mental health.”

⁸ The judge actually did not even permit Dr. Bean to see all of Ms. Link’s medical records. She limited his review to the previous year’s medical records. This appeal, of course, finds error in the judge’s failure to admit all of Ms. Link’s medical records regardless of time and of the scope of expert review.

01/05/2018 Tr. 46:14–20. At the request of the parties, the judge reluctantly clarified her ruling in writing:

The Court had indicated that the record would suffice for a written record. The parties however asked that the Court issue a written ruling and include the case law relied upon by the Court.... The Defendant intended to call two physicians as to the mental health records of Ms. Link. The Court had previously entered a ruling on these matters and the extent to which an expert could testify. The Court ruled on a motion for further clarification that reiterated that the court would not permit hearsay evidence to be permitted and to the extent any of the reports offered by the Defendant's witnesses attempted to testify to the specifics contained within the records, they [sic] testimony would not be permitted. Furthermore, the Court intended to follow the holding of *State v. Jacoby* and its progeny, which barred the admission of evidence of the victim's mental health and propensities without the defense of self-defense is raised.

App. v. IV, p. 21–23.

The judge separately ruled that Mr. Harkey's experience with Ms. Link wielding a knife was impermissible character evidence and not relevant. App. v. IV, p. 22–23.

III. An alternate juror was substituted for an allegedly non-deliberating juror without an investigation and despite evidence that the juror was actually a holdout.

When closing arguments concluded on Thursday, January 18, 2018, the court attendant randomly selected the names of three jurors to be

dismissed as alternate jurors.⁹ The judge did not tell the alternate jurors before they were dismissed that they were not to discuss the case or post about it on social media until a verdict had been returned. 01/18/2018 Tr. 192:9–193:1. The following day, the jury began deliberating at 9:00 a.m. 01/19/2018 Tr. 3:18.

At 1:45 p.m., the judge received a jury question and notified counsel to report to chambers to hear the question. The judge decided that it was not necessary to transport Mr. Buelow to the courthouse. 01/19/2018 Tr. 3:5–6. The question stated, “Count I: We the jurors of the Fontae C. Buelow case are not able to come to an agreeance on the 1st count of the murder charge, nor any lesser charges. Count 2: We are in agreeance of finding the defendant guilty of Count II, possession of cocaine.” App. v. IV, p. 27 (incorrectly labeled on EDMS as Jury Question #2 & Response). The judge, with counsel’s approval, responded in a note back to the jury: “You as judges of facts have the duty and obligation to deliberate over the facts. The time for proper consideration of the facts as analyzed with the law has not passed. Please continue with your efforts.” *Id.*

⁹ The names of the alternate jurors in the order the court attendant read them: J.D., K.S., and B.W. 01/18/2018 Tr. 192:7–8.

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