IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 18-0733

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

FONTAE COLE BUELOW, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY THE HONORABLE MONICA L. ZRINYI WITTIG, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

GENEVIEVE REINKOESTER

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) genevieve.reinkoester@ag.iowa.gov

C. J. MAY Dubuque County Attorney

BRIGIT A. BARNES Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

Bean to testify regarding Link's state of mind on the night she died. Allowing this testimony had the strong possibility of creating a minitrial, in which the jury would have been required to determine whether Link was, in fact, experiencing certain symptoms associated with her diagnoses on the night she died. The district court also properly excluded this evidence under Rule 5.403. The application of just one of these rules is sufficient to exclude the evidence, but as all three apply, it is clear the district court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded these records at trial.

B. Exclusion of Link's prior suicide attempts is harmless error.

Even assuming the district court erred by excluding evidence of Link's prior suicide attempts, this Court should affirm because the error was harmless. "A party may claim error in a ruling to admit or exclude evidence only if the error affects a substantial right of the party[.]" Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a). Thus, "Rule 5.103(a) requires a harmless error analysis where nonconstitutional error is claimed." *State v. Newell*, 710 N.W.2d 6, 19 (Iowa 2006) (internal citation omitted). "[T]he test for determining whether the evidence was prejudicial and therefore required reversal [is] this: 'Does it sufficiently appear that the rights of the complaining party have been injuriously affected by the error or that he has suffered a miscarriage of justice?" *State v. Sullivan*, 679 N.W.2d 19, 29 (Iowa 2004) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Prejudice is presumed unless the contrary is affirmatively established. *Id*.

First, Defendant was able to fully respond to the evidence presented by the State without the inadmissible evidence. The district court allowed him to present a suicide defense, which included a forensic pathologist who testified that he believed the physical evidence supported suicide, a psychiatrist who testified regarding the anti-depressant and anti-anxiety medications in Link's system and how depression, anxiety, and those particular medications may affect an intoxicated person, lay testimony regarding Link's behavior on the night she died, and his own testimony that she was angry and stabbed herself after he ended their relationship.

Second, the physical evidence at trial established that suicide and homicide were not equally plausible; rather it strongly favored homicide. Cell phone video recorded ten minutes before Link died showed she had no bruises or injuries to her face. But the autopsy showed multiple severe bruises to her face, the back of her head, her skull, her hand, and her legs. These wounds show that in the ten

minutes before she died, Link was severely beaten by Defendant. Link also sustained two independently fatal stab wounds to her chest, oriented in such a way as to make it highly unlikely they could be selfinflicted.

The knife used to stab her was found ten feet away from her body, and Defendant denies ever touching or moving it. There was no blood on the carpet surrounding the knife and very little blood between Link's body and the knife or on the carpet in general. State's Exs. 83–90; Conf. App. Vol. II 10.12 Considering Link suffered two immediate and independently fatal stab wounds, it is highly unlikely that she staggered to the living room and dropped the knife, before staggering back to the kitchen, where she collapsed and died-all while managing to drip little blood from her multiple wounds onto the carpet. It is equally implausible that Link tossed the knife after incurring these severe wounds, especially since such a toss would result in cast-off stains from the knife to the surrounding tile, carpet, and walls. No such stains appear in the record.

¹² The State failed to designate State's Exhibits 84–90, so they do not appear in the appendix.

Defendant was also spattered with Link's blood. Blood spatter is blood that flies through the air, so there are only two ways for Link's blood to appear on Defendant's face, hand, and shirt: either he stabbed her, or he was standing near her when she stabbed herself. Defendant's statements to police and his testimony at trial was that he was standing in the doorway to the basement when Link stabbed herself. However, there is no blood on or near this doorway or the door frame or on the floor surrounding the door. In order for Defendant's version of events to be true, Link's blood would have had to travel through the air and land only on him and not his surroundings. Considering the imprecise nature of blood spatter, this is virtually impossible.

And after he stabbed Link, Defendant called a friend instead of 911. When first responders arrived, Defendant told them he would "stab your fucking spouse in the face and you relax[.]"As shown in the multiple police videos, Defendant told officers that Link stabbed herself once in the stomach, which is false, and repeatedly tells officers a story about what happened between him and Link before she died, but leaves out several key details, most importantly, the

physical altercation with Link in the basement. Instead, he adamantly denies ever assaulting her.

Finally, Defendant was permitted to present his suicide defense at trial, but Link's most recent medical records reveal that she was doing well, her depression and anxiety were low, and she did not suffer from any suicidal ideations or plans. This evidence would have been a mighty blow to Defendant's suicide defense. And the physical evidence at trial proved that Defendant murdered Link. As such, the exclusion of Link's previous suicide attempts at trial is harmless error. *See State v. Jaeger*, 973 P.2d 404, 410–11 (Utah 1999) (finding the district court's exclusion of the victim's mental health records to be harmless error when the defendant was permitted to raise a suicide defense and the physical evidence strongly supported homicide).

II. Defendant Waived His Argument that the District Court Erred When It Replaced a Non-Deliberating Juror with the First Alternate.

Preservation of Error and Merits

Next, Defendant argues that the district court erred when it replaced a juror, who was alleged by the jury foreperson to have refused "at the outset to participate in deliberations," with the first alternate after the jury began its deliberations. Jury Question No. 3; App. Vol. IV 28. Defendant states that this issue was preserved "solely through a motion for a new trial." App. Br. at 49. A motion for a new trial is not sufficient to preserve error. Rather, Defendant was required to raise an objection at the time the district court and the parties contemplated the issue. *See State v. Steltzer*, 288 N.W.2d 557, 559 (Iowa 1980) (finding that a motion for new trial is not sufficient to preserve error because "[o]bjections should be raised at the earliest time at which error became apparent in order to properly preserve error." (internal citations omitted)). Consequently, this Court should not consider Defendant's appeal on this issue because error was not preserved.

And as Defendant acknowledges in his brief, he has also waived any argument that the district court erred by replacing the juror because he expressly agreed to this replacement. When the jury foreperson alerted the district court that one juror refused to deliberate, the district court met with the parties to discuss what should be done. The district court and the parties agreed that the entire panel should be reminded that they took an oath to deliberate, and at Defendant's suggestion, the parties agreed the jury should also

be told they could be held in contempt if they refused to deliberate.¹³ 1-19-2018 Tr. 7:22–8:5, 11:6–12:20.

Over the weekend, the district court did additional research on the issue of a non-deliberating juror and met with the parties on Monday morning. It stated it learned that Iowa had adopted a new rule of criminal procedure that might allow for a juror to be replaced with an alternate after jury deliberations had begun. The district court was clear that this was a new rule, and there was minimal case law in Iowa that contemplated the issue. However, the district court indicated it had looked at State v. Escobedo, 573 N.W.2d 271 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997), and reviewed the federal rules, as well as cases from other jurisdictions that dealt with the issue. The district court was also clear that it would not replace the non-deliberating juror unless everyone agreed to do so. The district court stated that "we now have three options *if we elect to take any action*. So I guess, since you, [Defendant], are most affected by what happens here in light of your

¹³ In his brief, Defendant asserts that the district court erred when it informed the jury it could be held in contempt if it did not follow its oath, even going so far as to state that this "threat" was an improper outside influence on the jury. App. Br. at 56 n.16. However, the record shows that Defendant was the one who suggested that the district court inform the jury of the possibility of contempt, so to the extent he alleges any error in this instruction, he has similarly waived it.

Constitutional rights being potentially impinged upon, I would like your attorneys' opinions about what we should *or should not do* at this point." 1-22-2018 Tr. 8:2–8 (emphasis added). Defendant and his trial counsel discussed the issue in private and decided "after discussion with our client, and our going over all of the options of what his rights are, he has decided to replace the juror with our first alternate that would be called." *Id.* at 9:5–9.

Prior to making this decision, the district court notified the parties that it had received a letter from the "ousted juror," and stated that it did not "know if you want me to read it, or if we just want to make a decision without having looked at this document. So you think about that, too. I'm not going to read it until we talk about it." *Id.* at 8:17–9:1. After telling the district court they wanted to replace the non-deliberating juror, Defendant's trial counsel stated that "I don't think we should look at that" letter. *Id.* at 11:25–13:6.

The record is clear that the district court neither made a unilateral decision to replace the non-deliberating juror, nor did it require Defendant to decide among untenable choices. Instead, the district court, after outlining its research and the options available which included taking no action at all—asked Defendant his opinion

on what should be done. When Defendant returned to the courtroom with trial counsel, no argument was made, and no opinion was given; rather, trial counsel unequivocally stated it was Defendant's choice to replace the non-deliberating juror with the first alternate. Defendant and his trial counsel never hesitated in this decision, never expressed disagreement with the district court's handling of the matter, never suggested an alternate course, and did not "merely acquiesce" with the district court's decision.¹⁴ App. Br. at 60.

Even though Defendant undoubtedly waived any objection to the replacement of the non-deliberating juror, Defendant asserts he should be exempt from the rules of error preservation and waiver because at the time of his trial, Iowa law was "unclear" on the procedure by which to replace a juror during deliberations. *Id.* at 49. The law was not as unclear as Defendant claims. While Defendant correctly notes that Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(15) was amended in 2016 to remove language that previously prevented district courts from replacing a juror once deliberations had begun,

¹⁴ The State agreed with Defendant's suggestion to replace the nondeliberating juror with the first alternate. In doing so, the State said that it "is clear from the actions of this juror that he is disqualified [for] failing to follow his oath." 1-22-2018 Tr. 14:1–8. Trial Counsel stated, "Yes, and I believe the same." *Id*.

this issue has been contemplated by federal and state courts for decades, including Iowa courts. *See* Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.18(15) (2009).¹⁵

In *State v. Escobedo*, the Court of Appeals stated that the previous version of Rule 2.18(15) barred a district court from replacing a juror after deliberations had begun. 573 N.W.2d at 276. The Court of Appeals also found that if the defendant had requested a mistrial based on the district court's replacement of a juror during deliberations, he would have been entitled to it. *Id.* But because the defendant "did not request the trial court to declare a mistrial, but instead acquiesced in the replacement of the dismissed juror with a previously dismissed alternate juror[,]" the defendant waived any error on this claim because "[n]early all error, including jury irregularities, may be waived." *Id.* at 276–77. *Escobedo* is a published case and has been controlling precedent for over 20 years.

Applying *Escobedo*, the Court of Appeals in *State v. Miller* found the defendant did *not* waive his objection when the district court replaced a juror with an alternate after deliberations had begun

¹⁵ The current version of Rule 2.8(15) was in effect during Defendant's trial.

because the defendant twice moved for a mistrial based on the manner in which the district court handled the juror substitution. No. 09-1231, 2012 WL 5540844, at *4-7 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 15, 2012). The Court of Appeals in Miller also drew two other important distinctions with Escobedo. First, in Escobedo, the defendant "acquiesced in the court's expressed intent to use a dismissed alternate juror," while in Miller, after it denied the defendant's motions for mistrial, the district court presented him with a "Hobson's choice," of either waiting a week for a juror to return from a funeral or proceeding with an alternate." Id. at *5-7. Second, because the defendant in *Miller* requested a mistrial, there was no "concern that double jeopardy would bar retrial," which was a concern in Escobedo, where a mistrial had not been requested. Id. at *6.

These longstanding cases clearly outline what a defendant must do to preserve this issue for appeal, and it is disingenuous for Defendant to now argue that he should be exempt from waiver because Iowa law was "unclear." This is especially so considering that Rule 2.18(15) became less restrictive, not more. If these procedures were sufficient when Rule 2.18(15) did not permit a juror to be

replaced once deliberations had begun, surely they were sufficient to alert Defendant to what he was required to do to challenge the issue now that such a replacement is permitted in the rule.¹⁶ *See State v*. *Schoelerman*, 315 N.W.2d 67, 71–72 (Iowa 1982) ("A normally competent attorney who undertakes to represent a criminal defendant should either be familiar with the basic provisions of the criminal code, or should make an effort to acquaint himself with those provisions which may be applicable....").

Moreover, even issues of first impression must be preserved. See In re Detention of Anderson, 895 N.W.2d 131, 138 (Iowa 2017) (finding issue of first impression was minimally preserved at the district court so could be raised on appeal). "In order for error to be preserved, the issue must be both raised and decided by the district court." *Id.* "The underlying requirement of error preservation is to give opposing counsel notice of the argument and opportunity to be heard on the issue." *Id.* Defendant cannot agree to a procedure at the district court—thereby depriving both the State and district court the

¹⁶ At the hearing, Trial Counsel stated they were aware of *Escobedo* and *Miller*. 1-22-2018 Tr. 14:1–8.

opportunity to argue and consider the issue—then cry error on appeal after an unfavorable verdict.¹⁷

Defendant relies on *State v. Wisniewski* to assert that he was not required to raise this issue to the district court. 171 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 1969). In *Wisniewski*, the Iowa Supreme Court found that the defendant was not required to object to an issue raised for the first time on appeal because a long-standing rule had been overturned after the defendant's trial, but before his appeal. *Id.* at 886. A such, the Supreme Court found that the "defendant should have the benefit of the" change in the law. *Id.* at 887. These are not the circumstances here, so *Wisniewski* is inapposite.

For as long as there have been jury trials, district courts have been required to manage a variety of juror issues. This is reflected in the Iowa Code and the Rules of Criminal Procedure, which provides district courts with wide discretion of jury management. For thirty-

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